Hepatitis B virus-induced hepatocellular carcinoma: The role of the virus x protein

M. MOTAVAF¹, S. SAFARI^{1,2}, M. SAFFARI JOURSHARI^{1,2}, S. M. ALAVIAN^{1,3*}

¹Department of Molecular Hepatology, Middle East Liver Disease Center, Tehran, Iran; ²Department of Anesthesiology, Tehran University of Medical Sciences, Tehran, Iran; ³Baqiyatallah Research Center for Gastroenterology and Liver Diseases, Baqiyatallah University of Medical Sciences, Tehran, Iran

Received March 4, 2013; accepted October 4, 2013

Summary. – Hepatocellular carcinoma (HCC) is one of the most common malignant diseases and has the fourth highest mortality rate worldwide. Chronic hepatitis B virus (HBV) infection has been identified as a major risk factor in HCC. Currently available evidence support a critical role of hepatitis B virus x (HBx) gene and protein in the pathogenesis of HBV-induced HCC. HBx protein is a multifunctional regulator that modulates cellular signal transduction pathways, transcriptional regulations, cell cycle progress, DNA repair, apoptosis, and genetic stability by interacting with different host factors. This review describes the current state of knowledge about the biological roles of this protein in the development of HCC.

Keywords: hepatitis B x protein; hepatitis B virus; hepatocellular carcinoma; apoptosis; nuclear excision repair; epigenetic modifications

Contents:

- 1. Introduction
- 2. HBV-specific mechanisms involved in HCC development
- 3. HBx gene and HBx protein
- 4. Different roles of HBx protein in hepatocarcinogenesis
- 4.1 Effects of HBx protein on epigenetic modifications
- 4.2 Effects of HBx protein on apoptosis
- 4.2.1 Anti-apoptotic effects of HBx protein
- 4.2.2 Pro-apoptotic effects of HBx protein
- 4.3 Effects of HBx protein on DNA repair
- 4.4 Effects of HBx protein on signal transduction and transcription regulation
- 5. Conclusion

^{*}Corresponding author. E-mail: alavian@thc.ir; phone: +98-2188945186.

Abbreviations: DNMTs = DNA methyltransferases; HBV = hepatitis B virus; HBx = hepatitis B x protein; HCC = hepatocellular carcinoma; MMP = matrix metalloproteinase; MTA = metastasis-associated protein; RAR- β 2 = retinoic acid receptor β 2; TSGs = tumor suppressor genes; XPB = xeroderma pigmentosum B

1. Introduction

With an annual incidence of more than 500,000 in the year 2000, HCC is considered to be one of the major malignant diseases in the world today (Motavaf and Alavian, 2012). Overall, 75-80% of global HCC cases are attributable to persistent viral infections with either HBV (50-55%) or hepatitis C virus (HCV) (25-30%) (Lu et al., 2006; Motavaf et al., 2012). Although this evidence indicates that HBV is a major etiologic factor in HCC (Alavian, 2011), the association of chronic HBV infection with HCC remains obscure. The hepatocarcinogenesis of HBV infection has been extensively analyzed, and multiple factors appear to play a role. Much of the evidence available supports the role of HBx gene and its expression product in the pathogenesis of HBV-related HCC. It is demonstrated that HBx gene is often included, and remains functionally active, in the HBV-DNA that is frequently integrated into cellular DNA during hepatocellular carcinogenesis. Several putative mechanisms by which HBx protein may contribute to the development of HCC have been investigated. While the specific mechanisms are still unknown, its critical role in hepatocarcinogenesis has been demonstrated by different *in vivo* and *in vitro* studies. Here, we attempt to summarize the current knowledge about carcinogenic pathways in HBV-induced HCC, with a focus on the role of HBx protein.

2. HBV-specific mechanisms involved in HCC development

Chronic HBV infection is the primary risk factor for the development of HCC (Mahboobi *et al.*, 2010). After decades of chronic hepatitis, about 30–40% of patients progress into liver cirrhosis, and of them, around 1–5% subsequently develop HCC (Liu and Kao, 2007).

Intensive research has focused on the role of HBV in hepatocarcinogenesis for the past decades. Current evidence points to two major HBV-specific mechanisms that contribute to the development of HCC. The first mechanism is the integration of HBV-DNA into host cellular DNA, which is observed in approximately 85% of HBV-associated tumors and is crucial during HBV chronic infection. Integration of HBV-DNA causes cis-effects, which by direct act in the genome disrupt or promote expression of cellular genes that are important in cell growth and differentiation. The second mechanism involves the expression of trans-activating factors encoded by HBV genome, which have the potential to influence intracellular signal transduction pathways and alter host gene expression indirectly. Several HBV trans-activating factors such as the HBx protein, the PreS2 activators, and a novel spliced transcript of HBV, referred to as the hepatitis B spliced protein (HBSP) have been found to be implicated in hepatocarcinogenesis (Su et al., 2008). An increasing number of studies suggest that HBx protein may contribute to the development of HCC by interfering with different cellular activities.



Fig. 1 Scheme of various targets of HBx protein in the cell

390

3. HBx gene and HBx protein

The HBV genome is a 3.2 kb circular, partially doublestranded DNA molecule with four overlapping open reading frames (ORFs), which code for the viral envelope (pre-S1/ pre-S2/S), core proteins (pre-C/C), viral polymerase, and HBx protein. Among the proteins originating from the HBV genome, the HBx protein has drawn much attention for its pleiotropic functions as a viral trans-activator playing different roles in the development of HCC. The HBx gene that codes the HBx protein is phylogenetically highly conserved among all mammalian hepadnaviruses, strongly suggesting that it plays a critical role in viral life cycle. This gene comprises 452 nucleotides that encode HBx protein. The protein is 154 aa long with a molecular mass of 17 kDa. HBx protein operates as a multifunctional regulator that can modulate various cellular processes, including signal transduction cascades, transcriptional pathways, cell cycle progress, DNA repair, apoptosis, cell proliferation and genetic stability by interacting with different host factors. Currently available evidence supports multiple roles for the HBx protein in the pathogenesis of HBV-induced HCC (Fig. 1).

4. Different roles of HBx protein in hepatocarcinogenesis

4.1 Effects of HBx protein on epigenetic modifications

Epigenetic modifications refer to alterations in gene expression with no underlying changes in the genetic sequence itself. These alterations can switch genes on or off and determine which proteins are transcribed. Within cells, there are three systems that epigenetically silence the genes: DNA methylation, histone modifications, and RNA-associated silencing. Disrupting any of these three systems can cause abnormal activation or silencing of genes. Such disruptions have been associated with different disorders including cancer, syndromes involving chromosomal instabilities, and mental retardation. DNA methylation plays an important role for epigenetic gene regulation in development and disease. It is catalyzed by a family of DNA methyltransferases (DNMTs), including DNMT1, DNMT3a, and DNMT3b (Bestor et al., 1988; Okano et al., 1998). DNMT1 is responsible for the maintenance of DNA methylation after each round of replication. DNMT3a and DNMT3b are the main players involved in *de novo* methylation during early development. This family catalyzes the transfer of a methyl group to the C-5 position of cytosine in CpG dinucleotide, using S-adenosyl methionine as the methyl donor. The increased expression of DNMT1 and DNMT3a has been shown to be associated with increased cell proliferation, tumorigenesis, and tumor progression. Thus, elucidation of the mechanism for DNMT1

and DNMT3a up-regulation may provide an important clue for the understanding of epigenetic alterations in tumors.

Studies indicated that DNMT1 and DNMT3a expression is significantly higher in HCC when compared with non-neoplastic liver tissues (Saito *et al.*, 2001). HBx protein has been contributed to the up-regulation of DNMT1 and DNMT3a expression at both the mRNA and protein levels (Jung *et al.*, 2007). By virtue of this ability, HBx protein is suggested to be involved in epigenetic modifications during hepatocarcinogenesis.

DNA in CpG rich islands (genomic regions that contain a high frequency of GC dinucleotide) in the promoter regions of the TSGs is a common target for methylation by DNMT1. One of the important results of this methylation is inactivation of TSGs, leading to tumor development by eliminating negative regulatory proteins. The observation of methylation in 82% of at least one TSG promoter during hepatocarcinogenesis demonstrates the importance of this mechanism in HCC development (Yang et al., 2003). Methylation of the p16INK4A promoter, a potent TSG is an important early event in carcinogenesis. It has been demonstrated that up-regulation of DNMT1 and DNMT3a by HBx protein is one of the leading causes of p16INK4A promoter methylation resulting in its inactivation (Zhu et al., 2010). P16INK4A is one of the cyclin-dependent kinase inhibitors (CDKIs) and acts as a negative cell cycle regulator. Its functional inactivation is shown to be one of the most frequent alterations in HCC.

By inducing DNMT1 transcription, HBx protein also represses the expression of the E-cadherin gene (Lee et al., 2005). E-cadherin plays a well-established role in cell-cell adhesion, ensuring that cells within tissues are bound together. The adhesive function of E-cadherin is dependent on its binding to the cytoplasmic α - and β -catenin proteins, two components of adherence junctions, which serve as a link between E-cadherin and the cytoskeleton. In a variety of cancers, including HCC, reduced expression of E-cadherin has been correlated with disruption of cell-cell contacts and enhanced cancer cell invasion. Binding of E-cadherin to β-catenin also suppresses cell growth and transformation. In addition, β -catenin plays an essential role in the Wnt signaling pathway. Activation of the Wnt signaling pathway leads to nuclear translocation of β -catenin where it functions as transcriptional regulator. Suppression of E-cadherin has important ramifications upon β -catenin function and consequently Wnt signaling pathway. Normally by binding to β -catenin, E-cadherin sequesters it at the membrane and keeps it away from the nucleus resulting in inhibition of β-catenin/Wnt signaling pathway. When E-cadherin expression is suppressed, β-catenin is released and translocates to the nucleus. Excessive accumulation of β -catenin in nucleus induces overactivation of β-catenin/Wnt signaling pathway, which results in enhanced cell growth and malignant cellular transformation. This suggests that HBx protein may promote elevated β -catenin/Wnt signaling, in part, by down-regulation of E-cadherin.

By up-regulating DNMTs expression, HBx protein also induces methylation of the insulin-like growth factor binding protein 3 (IGFBP-3) promoter, which suppresses IGFBP-3 expression (Park *et al.*, 2007). IGFBP-3 is an antiproliferative, pro-apoptotic, and anti-tumor protein. Thus, its suppression can be associated with cancer progression.

The ankyrin-repeat-containing, SH3-domain-containing, and proline-rich-region-containing protein1 (ASPP1) and ASPP2 family of proteins regulate apoptosis through interaction with p53 and enhancing its binding to promoters of pro-apoptotic genes. The expression of ASPP2 and ASSP1 genes is frequently down-regulated by DNA methylation via increased DNMT expression in HBV-positive HCC, which may play important role in the development of HCC. (Samuels-Lev *et al.*, 2001; Zhao *et al.*, 2010).

HBx modulates the function of retinoic acid (RA) with up-regulation of retinoic acid receptor (RAR) β. RA regulates important biological processes such as cell proliferation, cell differentiation and cell death. It has been reported that RA acts as inhibitor of carcinogenesis by blocking the promotion of cell-transformation via induction of apoptosis, inhibition of further growth of abnormal cells and induction of abnormal cells to re-differentiate back to normal. Their signal can be transduced through two families of receptors including RAR (alpha, beta and gamma) and retinoid X receptor (RXR). HBx protein has been shown to induce promoter methylation of RAR-B2 via up-regulation of DNMT1 and DNMT3a resulting in down-regulation of its expression in human HCC cells. Because RAR-\beta2 is a major executor of the anti-tumor activity of retinoic acid, its down-regulation is likely to be an important event in HCC (Jung et al., 2010). Methylation also abolishes the potential of retinoic acid to down-regulate levels of G1-checkpoint regulators including p16, p21, and p27. This leads to activation of transcription factor E2F1, which plays a crucial role in the control of cell. As a result, in the presence of HBx protein, cells are less susceptible to RA-induced growth inhibition.

It has recently been demonstrated that HBx protein is able to deregulate cellular micro-RNA expression. miRNAs are small noncoding RNA molecules that inhibit gene expression by interacting with target mRNAs. miRNAs have been shown to exhibit regulatory functions in numerous cellular processes, including proliferation, differentiation, and apoptosis. They can function as either oncogenes or tumor suppressors through the suppression of protein-coding genes involved in cancer development and progression. Different studies provide evidence for the ability of HBx protein to deregulate cellular miRNAs expression (Wang *et al.*, 2010; Xu *et al.*, 2013). Although the function of many of these miRNAs remains largely unknown, but functional studies illustrated the role of a number of them in hepatocarcinogenesis. For instance miRNA let-7, a negative regulator of cellular proliferation is one of these miRNAs, which expression was shown to be down-regulated by HBx protein (Wang *et al.*, 2010).

4.2 Effects of HBx protein on apoptosis

Maintenance of normal tissue homeostasis mainly depends on the balance between cell proliferation and programmed cell death (apoptosis). Apoptosis is responsible for the removal of infected, damaged, cancerous cells and cells that are simply in the wrong place during development. Apoptosis can be mediated through various extrinsic or intrinsic signal pathways, with activation of caspases and the possible involvement of mitochondria. The effect of HBx protein on apoptosis is one of the most fully documented mechanisms by which it contributes to the development of HCC. These effects are complex, because HBx protein has both anti-apoptotic and pro-apoptotic effects.

4.2.1 Anti-apoptotic effects of HBx protein

A number of ways in which HBx protein may induce antiapoptotic effects have been described in different studies. HBx protein has been demonstrated to function as inhibitor of p53-mediated apoptosis. The main role of p53 is maintaining the integrity of the genome in response to stress signals including oxidative stress, metabolic stress, and DNA damage by inducing growth arrest, or apoptosis. In response to these stress signals, p53 is imported into the nucleus, where it induces cell cycle arrest, allowing for repair of damage or p53-dependent apoptosis (Ellis et al., 1991). It is suggested that HBx protein reduces the concentration of nuclear p53 by cytoplasmic sequestration of this apoptosis inducer (Wang et al., 1995). One consequence of this effect is the failure of p53 to up-regulate genes involved in apoptosis (Feitelson, 2006). p53 also plays a role in induction of apoptosis via binding to the xeroderma pigmentosum B (XPB) and XPD components of the transcriptional factor II H (TFIIH), which are involved in induction of apoptosis. Binding of HBx protein to the C-terminal of p53 and inhibiting its binding to XPB and XPD, may disrupt p53 induced apoptosis.

HBx protein can also exert anti-apoptotic functions independently of p53 via modulating activities of the serine protease hepsin and up-regulation of survivin (Zhang *et al.*, 2005b). Survivin is a member of the apoptosis-inhibitor protein family, which is implicated in both the control of cell division and the inhibition of apoptosis. By inhibiting apoptosis and stimulating mitosis, survivin simplifies cancer cell survival and growth. Furthermore, survivin can form complexes with HBx-interacting protein (HBxIP), a cellular protein which was originally recognized for its association with HBx protein. Survivin-HBxIP complexes bind to procaspase 9, preventing its recruitment to apoptotic protease activating factor 1 (Apaf1), and thereby suppressing initiated mitochondrial apoptosis pathway. HBx protein is able to interact with such complexes and suppress caspase activation in a surviving-dependent way. Findings show that HBx protein is a potent caspases-3 inhibitor as well (Gottlob *et al.*, 1998). HBx protein may inhibit apoptosis by activating methionine-adenosyltransferase II alpha (MAT2A) expression through NF- κ B and cAMP-response-element-binding protein (CREB) signaling pathways, resulting in the decrease of S-adenosyl-methionine production (Liu *et al.*, 2011).

4.2.2 Pro-apoptotic effects of HBx protein

In addition to its anti-apoptotic effects, HBx protein may also induce apoptosis by different mechanisms such as deregulating Fas/FasL death receptor pathway, Bax/Bcl-2 family-induced mitochondrial pathway, activity of cFADDlike interleukin-1 beta-converting enzyme (cFLICE), expression of heat shock protein 60 (HSP60) and HSP70, expression of DNA damage-binding protein 1 (DDB1) and activity of NF-KB (Kim et al., 2008; Kim and Seong, 2003; Kim et al., 2005). It is demonstrated that the HBx protein sensitizes cells to apoptotic killing when expressed during viral replication. Cells that were resistant to apoptotic killing by high doses of TNFa were made sensitive to very low doses of TNFa by HBx protein (Su and Schneider, 1997). Production of TNFa is often part of the immune responses associated with liver damage during HBV infection. HBx protein sensitizes cells to TNFa killing by prolonged stimulation of n-myc (a proto-oncogene) and the stress-mediated mitogenactivated-protein kinase kinase 1 (MEKK1) pathway, but it has no effect on regulation of TNFa receptors.

Interaction of HBx protein with mitochondria, which is associated with the abnormal aggregation of mitochondrial structures in the cell (Takada et al., 1999) is another possible mechanism underlying HBx-related apoptotic cell death. It is also indicated that by causing the loss of mitochondrial membrane potential, HBx protein induces mitochondria-dependent apoptosis (Shirakata and Koike, 2003). Furthermore, HBx protein can form a complex with mitochondrial proteins, HSP60 and HSP70 that exerts effects on mitochondria-dependent apoptosis (Zhang et al., 2005a). HBx protein also may alter mitochondrial function by association with a member of the family of human mitochondrial voltage-dependent anion channel (HVDAC3) (Rahmani et al., 2000). Such functional roles of HBx protein, resulting in mitochondrial dysfunction and structural changes, have implications for HBV-induced liver injury and the development of HCC.

4.3 Effects of HBx protein on DNA repair

DNA repair systems are fundamental to the maintenance of genomic integrity through the recognition and repair of

damaged or altered DNA. The nucleotide excision repair (NER) pathway is responsible for the repair of a number of DNA lesions. DNA repair is achieved by the collaboration of the products of as many as 30 genes. The transcriptional factor II H, which includes XPB and XPD subunits, is involved in NER. It is thought that by interacting with XPB/XPD and inhibiting their translocation from sites of damaged DNA, p53 stabilizes the formation of repair complexes. Both *in vitro* and *in vivo* studies have shown that HBx protein can bind and disrupt the p53 binding to XPB and XPD. The binding domain of p53 for interaction with HBx protein has been mapped between aa 293–393 (Abdel-Hafiz, 2011), which also binds to XPB and XPD. Thus HBx protein may interfere with the NER pathway by covering this domain and blocking p53 from binding to XPB and XPD.

HBx protein in liver cells is also able to down-regulate XPB and XPD expression in specificity protein 1 (Sp1)dependent manner. Sp1 is one of the transcription factor responsive elements that are present in both XPB and XPD promoters. Sp1 has been shown to be a specific target for HBx protein resulting in impairment of its DNA binding properties and down-regulation of XPB and XPD.

4.4 Effects of HBx protein on signal transduction and transcription regulation

The HBx protein is known as a dual-specificity transactivator exerting both in the cytoplasm, via modulating intracellular signal transduction cascades, and in the nucleus, via interfering directly with transcription factors. Nuclearly localized HBx protein has been shown to up-regulate the expression of a number of cellular and viral genes including the HBV enhancers, RPB5 subunit of RNA polymerase II, TATA-binding protein, and proto-oncogenes such as c-jun, c-fos, and c-myc. Furthermore, HBx protein has been shown to activate transcriptional factors such as NF-kB, activator protein 1 (AP-1), AP-2, and activating transcription factor (ATF)/ CREB (Balsano et al., 1991; Chirillo et al., 1996; Kim et al., 2010; Twu et al., 1993). HBx protein also activates promoters of cellular genes associated with cell proliferation, such as IL-8, TNF, TGF- β 1, and early growth response factor (EGRF) (Andrisani and Barnabas, 1999). TGF-β1 signaling involves phosphorylation of Smad3 at serine residues 208 and 213 in the linker region (Smad3L) and serine residues 423 and 425 in the C-terminal region (Smal3C). Smad3C pathway inhibits growth of cells in vivo, but Smad3Lmediated signaling promotes tumor cell proliferation by up-regulating c-myc oncoprotein. It has been observed that HBx protein shifts hepatocytic TGF-β1 signaling from the tumor-suppressive pSmad3C pathway to the oncogenic pSmad3L pathway in early carcinogenesis (Murata et al., 2009). HBx protein localized in the cytoplasm, has been shown to activate signal transduction pathways such as Ras-Raf-mitogen-activated protein kinase (MAPK) pathway (Benn and Schneider, 1994), JAK/STAT pathway (Lee and Yun, 1998), the cell stress-induced MEKK1-p38-c-Jun N-terminal kinase (JNK) pathway (Benn *et al.*, 1996).

HBx protein may also contribute to tumorigenesis in HCC through modulation of the angiogenesis pathway. It is demonstrated that HBx protein up-regulates the transcription of vascular endothelial growth factor (VEGF), a potent angiogenic factor, by stabilizing or even up-regulating the hypoxia inducible factor 1 (HIF-1) (Lee et al., 2000). HIF-1 is also the main transcriptional activator of carbonic anhydrase 9 (CA9). CA9 is involved in pH regulation, which helps tumor cells overcome intracellular acidosis and survive extended periods of time in hypoxic conditions. Thus, increased expression of CA9 results in the development of HCC by contributing to the survival of hepatocytes infected with HBV in the fibrotic liver parenchyma (Holotnakova et al., 2010). Moreover, HBx protein plays an important role in facilitating invasion and metastasis by enhancing cellular migration through up-regulation of transcription of matrix metalloproteinase 2 (MMP-2), MMP-9, MMP-3, MMP14, MT1-MMP, and cyclooxygenase-2 (COX-2) (Lara-Pezzi et al., 2002; Liu et al., 2010b; Ou et al., 2007). MMPs degrade extracellular matrix components, thereby contributing to physiological events (wound healing, and angiogenesis) and pathological conditions (cancer and arthritis).

HBx protein has been shown to induce the expression of metastasis-associated protein 1 (MTA1) co-regulator, via NF- κ B signaling in hepatic cells. It is a component of the nuclear remodeling and histone deacetylase complex involved in carcinogenesis. MTA1 is a positive regulator of inducible nitric oxide synthase (iNOS) transcription as well (Bui-Nguyen *et al.*, 2010). The HBx/MTA1 complex stimulates the production of nitric oxide (NO°), by stimulation of iNOS expression in an NF- κ B-dependent manner. NO° is a free radical, producing many reactive intermediates that account for NO°-mediated DNA damage or inhibition of DNA repair.

HBx protein has also been shown to up-regulate the expression and activity of human telomerase reverse transcriptase (hTERT) (Liu *et al.*, 2010a; Zou *et al.*, 2004), which is the one of the primary mechanisms underlying the proliferation, differentiation and tumorigenesis. hTERT is a catalytic subunit of the enzyme telomerase that maintains DNA telomere ends. Telomerase activity is associated with the number of times a cell can divide playing an important role in the immortality of cancerous cell lines.

5. Conclusion

HCC is one of the most prevalent and lethal cancers worldwide. Considerable efforts are currently aimed at

unraveling the underlying molecular mechanisms of HCC in order to design better treatments, or even to prevent the disease. Chronic HBV infection is a major risk factor for HCC, but the pathogenesis of HBV-mediated HCC is not completely understood. Evidence suggests that the HBx protein plays a crucial role in hepatocarcinogenesis. Although further research is needed, these data give us insight into understanding the cell-transforming potential of HBx protein. Elucidating the role of HBx protein in hepatocarcinogenesis may ultimately lead to novel therapeutic strategies in the management of patients with HCC.

References

- Abdel-Hafiz H (2011): Role of Hepatitis B virus X protein in DNA repair during hepatocellular carcinoma development. J. Carcinogen. Mutagen. S 3, 37–39.
- Alavian SM (2011): New globally faces of hepatitis B and C in the world. Gastroenterol. Hepatol. Bed Bench 4.
- Andrisani OM, Barnabas S (1999): The transcriptional function of the hepatitis B virus X protein and its role in hepatocarcinogenesis (Review). Int.l J. Onc. 15, 373–379.
- Balsano C, Avantaggiati ML, Natoli G, De Marzio E, Will H, Perricaudet M, Levrero M (1991): Full-length and truncated versions of the hepatitis B virus (HBV) X protein (pX) transactivate the cmyc protooncogene at the transcriptional level. Biochem. Bioph. Res. Co. 176, 985–992. http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/0006-291X(91)90379-L
- Benn J, Schneider RJ (1994): Hepatitis B virus HBx protein activates Ras-GTP complex formation and establishes a Ras, Raf, MAP kinase signaling cascade. PNAS USA 91, 10350– 10354. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1073/pnas.91.22.10350</u>
- Benn J, Su, F, Doria M, Schneider RJ (1996): Hepatitis B virus HBx protein induces transcription factor AP-1 by activation of extracellular signal-regulated and c-Jun N-terminal mitogen-activated protein kinases. J. Virol. 70, 4978–4985.
- Bestor T, Laudano A, Mattaliano R, Ingram V (1988): Cloning and sequencing of a cDNA encoding DNA methyltransferase of mouse cells. The carboxyl-terminal domain of the mammalian enzymes is related to bacterial restriction methyltransferases. J. Mol. Biol. 203, 971–983. <u>http:// dx.doi.org/10.1016/0022-2836(88)90122-2</u>
- Bui-Nguyen TM, Pakala SB, Sirigiri DR, Martin E, Murad F, Kumar R (2010): Stimulation of inducible nitric oxide by hepatitis B virus transactivator protein HBx requires MTA1 coregulator. J. Biol. Chem. 285, 6980–6986. <u>http://dx.doi. org/10.1074/jbc.M109.065987</u>
- Chirillo P, Falco M, Puri PL, Artini M, Balsano C, Levrero M, Natoli G (1996): Hepatitis B virus pX activates NF-kappa B-dependent transcription through a Raf-independent pathway. J. Virol. 70, 641–646.
- Ellis RE, Yuan J, Horvitz H (1991): Mechanisms and functions of cell death. Ann. Rev. Cell Biol. 7, 663–698. <u>http://dx.doi.</u> <u>org/10.1146/annurev.cb.07.110191.003311</u>

- Feitelson MA (2006): Parallel epigenetic and genetic changes in the pathogenesis of hepatitis virus-associated hepatocellular carcinoma. Cancer Lett. 239, 10–20. <u>http://dx.doi.</u> org/10.1016/j.canlet.2005.07.009
- Gottlob K, Fulco M, Levrero M, Graessmann A (1998): The hepatitis B virus HBx protein inhibits caspase 3 activity. J. Biol. Chem. 273, 33347–33353. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1074/jbc.273.50.33347</u>
- Holotnakova T, Tylkova L, Takacova M, Kopacek J, Petrik J, Pastorekova S, Pastorek J (2010): Role of the HBx oncoprotein in carbonic anhydrase 9 induction. J. Med. Virol. 82, 32–40. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1002/jmv.21671</u>
- Jung JK, Arora P, Pagano JS, Jang KL (2007): Expression of DNA methyltransferase 1 is activated by hepatitis B virus X protein via a regulatory circuit involving the p16INK4acyclin D1-CDK 4/6-pRb-E2F1 pathway. Cancer Res. 67, 5771–5778. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1158/0008-5472.</u> <u>CAN-07-0529</u>
- Jung JK, Park SH, Jang KL (2010): Hepatitis B virus X protein overcomes the growth-inhibitory potential of retinoic acid by downregulating retinoic acid receptor-β2 expression via DNA methylation. J. Gen. Virol. 91, 493–500. <u>http:// dx.doi.org/10.1099/vir.0.015149-0</u>
- Kim HJ, Kim SY, Kim J, Lee H, Choi M, Kim JK, Ahn, JK (2008): Hepatitis B virus X protein induces apoptosis by enhancing translocation of Bax to mitochondria. IUBMB life 60, 473–480. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1002/iub.68</u>
- Kim HR, Lee SH, Jung G (2010): The hepatitis B viral X protein activates NF-kappaB signaling pathway through the up-regulation of TBK1. FEBS Lett. 584, 525–530. <u>http:// dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.febslet.2009.11.091</u>
- Kim KH, Seong BL (2003): Pro-apoptotic function of HBV X protein is mediated by interaction with c-FLIP and enhancement of death-inducing signal. EMBO J. 22, 2104–2116. http://dx.doi.org/10.1093/emboj/cdg210
- Kim SY, Kim JK, Kim HJ, Ahn JK (2005): Hepatitis B virus X protein sensitizes UV-induced apoptosis by transcriptional transactivation of Fas ligand gene expression. IUBMB Life 57, 651–658. <u>http://dx.doi. org/10.1080/15216540500239697</u>
- Lara-Pezzi E, Gomez-Gaviro MV, Galvez BG, Mira E, Iniguez MA, Fresno M, Martinez AC, Arroyo AG, Lopez-Cabrera M (2002): The hepatitis B virus X protein promotes tumor cell invasion by inducing membrane-type matrix metalloproteinase-1 and cyclooxygenase-2 expression. J. Clin. Invest. 110, 1831–1838.
- Lee JO, Kwun HJ, Jung JK, Choi KH, Min DS, Jang KL (2005): Hepatitis B virus X protein represses E-cadherin expression via activation of DNA methyltransferase 1. Oncogene 24, 6617–6625. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1038/sj.onc.1208827</u>
- Lee SW, Lee YM, Bae SK, Murakami S, Yun, Y, Kim, KW (2000): Human hepatitis B virus X protein is a possible mediator of hypoxia-induced angiogenesis in hepatocarcinogenesis. Biochem. Bioph. Res. Co. 268, 456–461. <u>http://dx.doi. org/10.1006/bbrc.2000.2093</u>
- Lee YH, Yun Y (1998): HBx protein of hepatitis B virus activates Jak1-STAT signaling. J. Biol. Chem. 273, 25510–25515. http://dx.doi.org/10.1074/jbc.273.39.25510

- Liu CJ, Kao JH (2007): Hepatitis B virus-related hepatocellular carcinoma: epidemiology and pathogenic role of viral factors. JCMA 70, 141–145.
- Liu H, Shi W, Luan F, Xu S, Yang F, Sun W, Liu J, Ma C (2010a): Hepatitis B virus X protein upregulates transcriptional activation of human telomerase reverse transcriptase. Virus Genes 40, 174–182. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1007/ s11262-009-0441-3</u>
- Liu LP, Liang HF, Chen XP, Zhang WG, Yang SL, Xu T, Ren L (2010b): The role of NF-kappaB in Hepatitis b virus X protein-mediated upregulation of VEGF and MMPs. Cancer Invest. 28, 443-451. <u>http://dx.doi.</u> org/10.3109/07357900903405959
- Liu Q, Chen J, Liu L, Zhang J, Wang D, Ma L, He Y, Liu Y, Liu Z, Wu J (2011): The X protein of hepatitis B virus inhibits apoptosis in hepatoma cells through enhancing the methionine adenosyltransferase 2A gene expression and reducing S-adenosylmethionine production. J. Biol. Chem. 286, 17168–17180. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1074/jbc.M110.167783</u>
- Lu SN, Su WW, Yang SS, Chang TT, Cheng KS, Wu JC, Lin HH, Wu SS, Lee CM, Changchien CS, Chen CJ, Sheu JC, Chen DS, Chen CH (2006): Secular trends and geographic variations of hepatitis B virus and hepatitis C virus-associated hepatocellular carcinoma in Taiwan. Int. J. Cancer 119, 1946–1952. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1002/ijc.22045</u>
- Mahboobi N, Agha-Hosseini F, Safari S, Lavanchy D, Alavian SM (2010): Hepatitis B virus infection in dentistry: a forgotten topic. J. Viral Hepatitis 17, 307–316. <u>http://dx.doi.</u> <u>org/10.1111/j.1365-2893.2010.01284.x</u>
- Motavaf M, Alavian SM (2012): RNA interference: a promising approach for the treatment of viral hepatitis. Hepatitis Monthly 12, 7–8.
- Motavaf M, Safari S, Alavian SM (2012): Therapeutic potential of RNA interference: a new molecular approach to antiviral treatment for hepatitis C. J. Viral. Hepatitis 19, 757–765. http://dx.doi.org/10.1111/jvh.12006
- Murata M, Matsuzaki K, Yoshida K, Sekimoto G, Tahashi Y, Mori S, Uemura,Y, Sakaida N, Fujisawa J, Seki T, Kobayashi K, Yokote K, Koike K, Okazaki K (2009): Hepatitis B virus X protein shifts human hepatic transforming growth factor (TGF)-beta signaling from tumor suppression to oncogenesis in early chronic hepatitis B. Hepatology 49, 1203–1217. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1002/hep.22765</u>
- Okano M, Xie S, Li E (1998): Cloning and characterization of a family of novel mammalian DNA (cytosine-5) methyltransferases. Nat. Genet. 19, 219–220. <u>http://dx.doi.</u> <u>org/10.1038/890</u>
- Ou DP, Tao YM, Tang FQ, Yang LY (2007): The hepatitis B virus X protein promotes hepatocellular carcinoma metastasis by upregulation of matrix metalloproteinases. Int. J. Cancer 120, 1208-1214. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1002/ijc.22452</u>
- Park IY, Sohn BH, Yu E, Suh DJ, Chung YH, Lee JH, Surzycki SJ, Lee YI (2007): Aberrant epigenetic modifications in hepatocarcinogenesis induced by hepatitis B virus X protein. Gastroenterology 132, 1476–1494. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1053/j.gastro.2007.01.034</u>
- Rahmani Z, Huh KW, Lasher R, Siddiqui A (2000): Hepatitis B virus X protein colocalizes to mitochondria with a human

voltage-dependent anion channel, HVDAC3, and alters its transmembrane potential. J. Virol. 74, 2840–2846. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1128/JVI.74.6.2840-2846.2000</u>

- Saito Y, Kanai Y, Sakamoto M, Saito H, Ishii H, Hirohashi S (2001): Expression of mRNA for DNA methyltransferases and methyl-CpG-binding proteins and DNA methylation status on CpG islands and pericentromeric satellite regions during human hepatocarcinogenesis. Hepatology 33, 561–568. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1053/jhep.2001.22507</u>
- Samuels-Lev Y, O'Connor DJ, Bergamaschi,D, Trigiante G, Hsieh JK, Zhong S, Campargue I, Naumovski L, Crook T, Lu, X (2001): ASPP proteins specifically stimulate the apoptotic function of p53. Mol. Cell 8, 781–794. <u>http://dx.doi. org/10.1016/S1097-2765(01)00367-7</u>
- Shirakata Y, Koike K (2003): Hepatitis B virus X protein induces cell death by causing loss of mitochondrial membrane potential. J. Biol. Chem. 278, 22071–22078. <u>http://dx.doi.</u> org/10.1074/jbc.M301606200
- Su F, Schneider RJ (1997): Hepatitis B virus HBx protein sensitizes cells to apoptotic killing by tumor necrosis factor α. PNAS 94, 8744–8749. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1073/</u> pnas.94.16.8744
- Su IJ, Wang HC, Wu HC, Huang, WY (2008): Ground glass hepatocytes contain pre-S mutants and represent preneoplastic lesions in chronic hepatitis B virus infection. J. Gastroenterol. Hepatol. 23, 1169–1174. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1111/j.1440-1746.2008.05348.x</u>
- Takada S, Shirakata Y, Kaneniwa N, Koike K (1999): Association of hepatitis B virus X protein with mitochondria causes mitochondrial aggregation at the nuclear periphery, leading to cell death. Oncogene 18, 6965–6973. <u>http://dx.doi.</u> org/10.1038/sj.onc.1203188
- Twu JS, Lai MY, Chen DS, Robinson WS (1993): Activation of protooncogene c-jun by the X protein of hepatitis B virus. Virology 192, 346–350. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1006/ viro.1993.1041</u>
- Wang XW, Gibson MK, Vermeulen W, Yeh H, Forrester K, Stürzbecher HW, Hoeijmakers JHJ, Harris CC (1995): Abrogation of p53-induced apoptosis by the hepatitis B virus X gene. Cancer Res. 55, 6012–6016.

- Wang Y, Lu Y, Toh ST, Sung WK, Tan P, Chow P, Chung AY, Jooi LL, Lee CG (2010): Lethal-7 is down-regulated by the hepatitis B virus x protein and targets signal transducer and activator of transcription 3. J. Hepatology 53, 57–66. http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.jhep.2009.12.043
- Xu X, Fan Z, Kang L, Han J, Jiang C, Zheng X, Zhu Z, Jiao H, Lin J, Jiang K, Ding L, Zhang H, Cheng L, Fu H, Song Y, Jiang Y, Liu J, Wang R, Du N, Ye Q (2013): Hepatitis B virus X protein represses miRNA-148a to enhance tumorigenesis. J. Clin. Invest. 123, 630–645.
- Yang B, Guo M, Herman JG, Clark DP (2003): Aberrant promoter methylation profiles of tumor suppressor genes in hepatocellular carcinoma. Am. J. Pathol. 163, 1101. <u>http:// dx.doi.org/10.1016/S0002-9440(10)63469-4</u>
- Zhang SM, Sun DC, Lou S, Bo XC, Lu Z, Qian XH, Wang SQ (2005a): HBx protein of hepatitis B virus (HBV) can form complex with mitochondrial HSP60 and HSP70. Arch. Virol. 150, 1579–1590. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1007/s00705-005-0521-1</u>
- Zhang X, Dong N, Yin L, Cai N, Ma H, You J, Zhang H, Wang H, He R, Ye L (2005b): Hepatitis B virus X protein upregulates survivin expression in hepatoma tissues. J. Med. Virol. 77, 374–381. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1002/jmv.20466</u>
- Zhao J, Wu G, Bu F, Lu B, Liang A, Cao L, Tong X, Lu X, Wu M, Guo Y (2010): Epigenetic silence of ankyrin-repeat-containing, SH3-domain-containing, and proline-rich-region- containing protein 1 (ASPP1) and ASPP2 genes promotes tumor growth in hepatitis B virus-positive hepatocellular carcinoma. Hepatology 51, 142–153. <u>http://dx.doi. org/10.1002/hep.23247</u>
- Zhu YZ, Zhu R, Shi LG, Mao Y, Zheng GJ, Chen Q, Zhu HG (2010): Hepatitis B virus X protein promotes hypermethylation of p16INK4A promoter through upregulation of DNA methyltransferases in hepatocarcinogenesis. Exp. Mol. Pathol. 89, 268–275. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.yexmp.2010.06.013</u>
- Zou SQ, Qu ZL, Li ZF, Wang X (2004): Hepatitis B virus X gene induces human telomerase reverse transcriptase mRNA expression in cultured normal human cholangiocytes. World J. Gastroenterol. 10, 2259–2262.